Research

Factor Exposure and Portfolio Concentration



April 2017 | ftserussell.com



Contents

1	Introduction 3			
2	Factor Tilting5			
3	The Continuous Limit7			
4	Functional Form of the Tilt Function 10			
5	Exposure and Concentration12			
	5.1	One Factor Case 12		
	5.2	Two Factor Case 14		
	5.3	Three Factor Case 17		
	5.4	N-Factor Case		
6	Conclusion 23			
7	References 24			

1 Introduction

Factors have been debated in the academic literature for many decades. That risk premia exist for factors such as value, momentum, size, low volatility and quality seems pretty much settled [1 - 7]. Given this, the discussion has progressed to the circumstances under which one should try to access these risk premia [9, 31] and to what portfolio construction techniques one should employ to do this efficiently.

Some researchers advocate a market neutral approach, accessing "pure" factor premia utilising longshort portfolio techniques. Others take a long only approach, viewing the premia as more efficient way of accessing market exposure. We feel this is a matter of judgment for the individual manager which will be based in part on risk appetite and the limitations imposed by their investment mandates. In this paper we will consider the long only approach although much of the material may be easily extended to create long-short portfolios.

The use of optimization [10, 11, 12] has been an important tool in the selection and weighting of stocks since the work of Markowitz [29]. Put simply one can specify preferences around factor exposures, diversification, risk etc. and then let the "black box" do the work of delivering a portfolio that satisfies these criteria. If the problem is set up correctly, and the black box does its job of efficiently finding the optimal solution, this can deliver the desired outcomes. The one drawback to optimization is around transparency. The black box "knows" why it has chosen stocks and in what proportion, but this may not be so clear to the human who allocated it the task.

Given this issue with optimization, a number of ad hoc methods of portfolio construction have been developed. The simplest and most commonly employed is the construction of a Characteristic Basket, which selects a given proportion of some initial universe by factor value. Stocks within the basket are then weighted according to the factor value itself or on some other criteria concerned with capacity (e.g. Market Cap weighting), diversification (e.g. Equal weighting) or risk (e.g. Risk weighting).

Another simple, but widely used approach is that of "factor tilting" [8, 14, 32]. The idea here is to take a starting universe of stock weightings and to perturb them in a way that increases the exposure to the factor of interest. This is often achieved by multiplying the initial set of weights by a scoring function; high scores for stocks with large factor values and close to zero scores for stocks with the smallest factor values.

One criticism of such tilting techniques, often made by advocates of a selection approach, is that it can only ever provide relatively weak factor exposure. Quite correctly, they highlight that the factor exposure of say, a Characteristic Basket, can be readily increased by further narrowing of the selection universe, for example by taking the top 10% by factor value rather than the top 50%. In this paper we show that criticism regarding factor exposure strength resulting from tilting approaches is quite wrong, and that exposure outcomes depend on the tilting function employed. Indeed, we show that the Characteristic Basket is a special case of a factor tilt, where the scoring function is the step function.

The final, and arguably the most important question is how should one construct multi-factor portfolios. Leaving aside the possibility of optimized solutions, what is the most appropriate mechanism for obtaining multiple factor exposure, whilst maintaining appropriate levels of stock weight diversification? Two ways in which this is done can be characterised as via "top down" (or mixed) portfolios and "bottom up" (or integrated) portfolios.

In the "top down" approach one constructs a composite portfolio from single factor portfolios. Stock weights in this multi-factor portfolio are a weighted average of their weights in the single factor portfolios. Examples of this are given in [13, 17, 19].

Alternatively, in a "bottom up" portfolio, a particular stock is weighted in consideration of all its factor characteristics simultaneously. An example of this is by use of a composite factor, where individual factor values are combined in some way resulting in an overall factor score that is used for stock selection and weighting.

The relative merits and drawbacks of these general approaches have been discussed extensively in the financial literature [15, 25, 26, 27, 28, 35]. Proponents of "top down" suggest it provides the greatest factor exposure consistent with a high degree of diversification [13, 16, 17]. Although it is accepted that the averaging of stock weights results in an averaging of factor exposures, "top down" advocates argue that high multi-factor exposures can be maintained by averaging high exposure single factor portfolios. However, such high exposure single factor portfolios can only be maintained through the application of increasingly aggressive stock selection and weighting, with adverse implications for levels of diversification. On the other hand some practitioners [16, 17] appear unconcerned regarding the potentially relatively weak factor exposures engendered by averaging and choose to highlight the composite portfolio's stock weight diversification benefits. This seems strange since, whilst it is clear that diversification is important, the primary target of a factor portfolio should surely be intentional factor exposure.

We are firm proponents of the bottom up approach. In this paper we concentrate on an alternative to the composite factor method described above. This is the concept of multiple factor tilting, where we apply sequential factor tilts to a given starting universe of stocks in the expectation that it will achieve both the multiple factor exposures we require and acceptable levels of stock diversification.

The objective of this paper is to assess the relative benefits and drawbacks of the various factor and multi-factor portfolio construction techniques described above, through the lens of factor exposure and portfolio diversification. Academic and empirical evidence tells us that portfolio exposure to certain factors is a good thing [1 - 7], while modern portfolio theory emphasizes the importance of diversification [34].

To avoid reliance on empirical data and criticisms that our results are sample specific, we prefer a more theoretical approach. We make the assumption that our factors can be modelled by a normal distribution and perform our calculations in the continuous limit. We are clear that whilst real portfolios do not contain infinitely many stocks; that correlated factors are not identically normally distributed and stock weights are not infinitesimal, such abstractions are common in finance, and so long as we appreciate its limitations, it can offer useful guidance for the real world.

Section 2 sets out discrete definitions of composite and multiple tilt portfolios and introduces the definitions of exposure and diversification used throughout the remainder of this paper. Section 3 extends the constructs of Section 2 to the continuous limit and derives formulae for use in later sections. In Section 4 we set out two important tilt functions that form the basis for all of our subsequent results, which are set out in Section 5, where we compare outcomes of one, two, three and N - factor portfolios employing alternative construction techniques. Section 6 concludes.

2 Factor Tilting

The concept of factor tilting has a long pedigree [8, 14, 32]. The basic idea is to start with the set of portfolio weights \widehat{W}_i from which we wish to tilt and to define a set factor values f_i for each stock labelled by i = 1, ..., N. Since the factor values involve different sets of natural units and ranges, it is convenient but not essential, to rescale and truncate these factor values to form Z-Scores according to:

$$Z_i = \frac{f_i - \mu}{\sigma} \tag{1}$$

where μ and σ are the cross sectional mean and standard deviation. Different factors can now be more readily compared since they all have mean zero and standard deviation one.

The next consideration is to apply some function F(Z) that maps each of the Z-Scores to a positive real number. The functional form chosen is important, since it will determine many of the properties of the tilted portfolio. The tilted portfolio weights are then defined by:

$$W^{T}{}_{i} = \frac{F(Z_{i}) * W_{i}}{\sum_{j=1}^{N} F(Z_{j}) * \widehat{W}_{j}}$$
(2)

Tilting away from the factor is a simple matter of reversing the sign of the Z-Score.

An appreciation that the starting weights in (2) can take any form and not merely the standard market capitalisation benchmark weights, means it is a natural extension to take a set of previously factor tilted weights as a starting point. This simple consideration leads naturally to the notion of multiple factor tilting [32].

The formula for the weights for multiple factor tilt is obtained by iteratively applying (2). It has the simple form:

$$W^{T}{}_{i} = \frac{F_{1}(Z_{1,i}) * \dots * F_{n}(Z_{n,i}) * \widehat{W}_{i}}{\sum_{j=1}^{N} F_{1}(Z_{1,j}) * \dots * F_{n}(Z_{n,j}) * \widehat{W}_{j}}$$
(3)

where $Z_{m,i}$ is the Z-Score of the m^{th} factor for the i^{th} stock. Note that the $F_m(Z)$ need not all have the same functional form and that, since we are multiplying the functions, the order of the multiple tilting is immaterial.

The result is a multi-factor portfolio – but of course this is not the only way to create such a portfolio. The simplest and most common construction is the composite portfolio. This is created by taking a weighted average of the weights of several single factor portfolios with weights $W^{F_m}{}_i$ thus:

$$W^{C}{}_{i} = \alpha_{1} * W^{F_{1}}{}_{i} + \ldots + \alpha_{n} * W^{F_{n}}{}_{i}$$
⁽⁴⁾

where the α_m are positive real numbers satisfying :

$$\sum_{m=1}^{n} \alpha_m = 1 \tag{5}$$

This is often referred to as a "top down" construction technique whereas multiple tilting would be characterised as "bottom up".

To assess how much of the factor characteristic is embedded in a given portfolio, we define the Factor Exposure as:

$$E_Z[W] = \sum_{i=1}^N W_i * Z_i \tag{6}$$

where W_i is the set of portfolio weights. The Active Factor Exposure, relative to another set of weights \widehat{W} is defined by:

$$AE_{Z}[W,\widehat{W}] = E_{Z}[W] - E_{Z}[\widehat{W}]$$
⁽⁷⁾

So for example, if the tilt function has been chosen appropriately in (2), the Active Factor Exposure should be positive.

To assess the degree of diversification in portfolio, the Herfindahl measure of concentration [23] can be used:

$$D[W] = \sum_{i=1}^{N} W_i^{\ 2} \tag{8}$$

with the effective number or "Effective N", or diversification of stocks given by 1/D[W]. Effective N attains its maximum under an equal weighting scheme and is equal to the actual number of stocks. Hence, Effective N can be seen as a measure of "how far" a given portfolio is from this most diversified portfolio. There are many alternative measures of diversification [18, 24], but this is one based only on weighting considerations.

In this Section we have given a general description of how to construct multi-factor portfolios based on multiple tilting and composite portfolios. We could provide examples of real world indexes using specific stock universes and time periods and compare factor exposure outcomes and levels of diversification - we could even compare their performances. However any demonstration of the superiority of the multiple tilt technique in terms of exposure and diversification would be subject to the criticism that the results are specific to a chosen set of circumstances.

In the next Section we attempt to address this issue by abstracting all of the above into to the continuous limit along with some distributional assumptions about factors. Irrespective of any debate over the practical applicability in making such a leap, we shall attempt to gain clearer insights into the properties of alternative approaches to multi-factor portfolio construction.

3 The Continuous Limit

To this point, we have made no assumptions regarding the distributional form taken by factor values or Z-Scores. In what follows, we make the assumption that each of our Z-Scores X_i follows a normal distribution with mean zero and standard deviation one:

$$N(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \operatorname{Exp}\left(-\frac{1}{2}x^2\right)$$
(9)

It is clear that factors can and do take on distributions that are very different from the normal distribution. However, it is also clear that many factors do in fact approximate a bell-shaped distribution or may be transformed to a "normal like" state. For example, the size factor as represented market capitalisation will for many stock universes (particularly large ones) of interest follow approximately a log-normal type distribution [33]. A log transformation will therefore result in the desired factor distribution. It is also worth noting that it is a common practice to form composite factors, that is, factors are derived from sums of different sub-component factor Z-Scores. Often, even when the original factors are not normally distributed but more or less independent, their sum will tend to have a distribution that is closer to normality. These considerations suggest that the assumption of normality is not overly restrictive.

The correlation of factors varies. For example quality tends to be positively correlated to low volatility, whereas value tends to be negatively correlated to momentum. This is encapsulated in the factor correlation matrix ρ whose elements are defined by:

$$\rho_{ij} = \frac{\Sigma_{ij}}{\sigma_{X_i} * \sigma_{X_j}} \tag{10}$$

where $\Sigma_{ij} = \text{Cov}(X_i, X_j)$ is the covariance matrix and σ_{X_i} is the square root of the variance of X_i . Multiple normally distributed factors are then jointly distributed according to the multivariate normal distribution:

$$P(\boldsymbol{\rho}, \boldsymbol{x}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{x}_n) = \operatorname{Exp}\left(-\frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{x}^T \boldsymbol{\Sigma}^{-1} \boldsymbol{x}\right) / \sqrt{(2\pi)^n |\boldsymbol{\Sigma}|}$$
(11)

Given this distributional structure of our factors, our intention is to extend the formulae of Section 2 to the continuous limit. This will allow us to derive firm statistical results that should be valid for the discrete case where sample size is large and for averages derived from sufficiently large numbers of portfolio realizations.

In the continuous limit, we define a weight function $W(x_1, ..., x_n)$ as any function that satisfies:

$$\iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(\boldsymbol{\rho}, x_1, \dots, x_n) W(x_1, \dots, x_n) dx_1 \dots dx_n = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad W(x_1, \dots, x_n) \ge 0$$
(12)

This can be viewed as the statement that weights are positive and add up to one.

Analogous to (6) we define the exposure of the factor X_i associated with this weight function by:

$$E_{X_i}[W] = \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(\boldsymbol{\rho}, x_1, \dots, x_n) W(x_1, \dots, x_n) x_i \, dx_1 \dots dx_n$$
(13)

The concentration (or the reciprocal of Effective N) follows from (8) by:

$$D[W] = \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(\boldsymbol{\rho}, x_1, ..., x_n) W(x_1, ..., x_n)^2 dx_1 ... dx_n$$
(14)

Note that for equal weighting $W(x_1, ..., x_n) = 1$ so that Effective N, given by 1/D[W], is equal to one. Henceforth we can refer to the Effective N measure, calculated in the continuous limit, as a percentage.

Let $F_i(x) \ge 0$ be a tilt function. In the continuous limit and starting from equal stock weighting, the equivalent equation to the discrete multiple tilting equation (3) is:

$$W^{T}[F_{1}(x_{1}),..,F_{n}(x_{n})] = \frac{F_{1}(x_{1})..F_{n}(x_{n})}{\iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(\boldsymbol{\rho}, x_{1},...,x_{n}) F_{1}(x_{1})..F_{n}(x_{n}) dx_{1}...dx_{n}}$$
(15)

It is clear that this expression satisfies both conditions in (12) to be a weight function. Note that since the exposure arising from equal weighting is zero in what follows exposure and active exposure are identical.

Whilst tilting from an equally weighted starting point may seem restrictive, it is worth noting that multiple tilts can be viewed as sequential. Hence, a weight function resulting from the first tilt $F_1(x_1)$ can be interpreted as a set of starting weights. So for example, tilting from equal weighting towards a suitably defined large size factor will yield a new set of starting weights that is more in line with a set of capitalization weights.

It is useful to write explicit formulae for exposure and concentration for the single factor case:

$$E_{X}[W^{T}[F(x)]] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} N(x) F(x) x \, dx}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} N(x) F(x) \, dx} \quad \text{and} \quad D[W^{T}[F(x)]] = \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} N(x) F(x)^{2} \, dx}{\left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} N(x) F(x) \, dx\right]^{2}} \tag{16}$$

We can write these equations in a more compact form by defining:

$$I[F(x)] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} N(x) F(x) dx$$
(17)

The equations for exposure and concentration become:

$$E_X[W^T[F(x)]] = \frac{I[F(x) * x]}{I[F(x)]} \quad \text{and} \quad D[W^T[F(x)]] = \frac{I[F(x)^2]}{I[F(x)]^2}$$
(18)

For a composite portfolio of single tilted portfolios we have the following analogue to (4):

$$W^{C}[F_{1}(x_{1}),..,F_{n}(x_{n})] = \alpha_{1} * \frac{F_{1}(x_{1})}{I(F_{1})} + \dots + \alpha_{n} * \frac{F_{n}(x_{n})}{I(F_{n})}$$
(19)

where the $\alpha_m > 0$ and sum to one. It is easily checked that this function satisfies the properties of a weight function.

The expressions for the exposure and diversification of the composite portfolio (19) can be simplified using the following expression for the marginal joint probability function:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(\boldsymbol{\rho}, x_1, \dots, x_n) \, dx_j = P\big(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\rho}}, x_1, \dots, x_{j-1}, x_{j+1}, \dots, x_n\big) \tag{20}$$

where $\hat{\rho}$ is the correlation matrix without the j^{th} row and column. The following equations for the marginal probability and marginal expectation of two factors are also useful:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(\rho_{ij}, x_i, x_j) dx_j = N(x_i) \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(\rho_{ij}, x_i, x_j) x_i dx_i = \rho_{ij} x_j N(x_j)$$
(21)

Applying these identities iteratively to the expression (13) for exposure gives:

$$E_{X_i}[W^C[F_1(x_1), \dots, F_n(x_n)]] = \sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_j * \rho_{ij} * E_{X_j}[W^T[F_j(x_j)]]$$
(22)

That is, the exposure of factor X_i is a linear sum of its correlations with the other factors multiplied by the exposure of each of the other factors.

Substituting (19) into (14) and then iterative application of (20) and (21) gives the following expression for the concentration:

$$D[W^{C}[F_{1}(x_{1}),...,F_{n}(x_{n})]] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i}^{2} * D[W^{T}[F_{i}(x_{i})]] + \sum_{i,j\neq i}^{n} \frac{\alpha_{i}}{I[F_{i}]} * \frac{\alpha_{j}}{I[F_{j}]} * G[\rho_{ij},F_{i}(x_{i}),F_{j}(x_{j})]$$
(23)

where the second summation is a double sum over i and j and G is defined by:

$$G[\rho_{ij}, F_i(x_i), F_j(x_j)] = \iint_{-\infty}^{\infty} P(\rho_{ij}, x_i, x_j) F_i(x_i) * F_j(x_j) dx_i dx_j$$
(24)

In other words the concentration of the composite portfolio is a linear sum of the single factor concentrations plus a piece that involves the sum of an integral expression involving the pairwise correlations of the factors and their tilt functions.

4 Functional Form of the Tilt Function

As we have stated the function F(x) can have any functional form so long as it is not negative. In identifying an appropriate tilt function there are some general considerations. First, stocks with higher factor values should not receive a smaller weight than stocks with smaller factor values. Hence the function should be monotonic (non-decreasing). Second, one would probably want to limit the over weighting of extreme Z-Scores. Such scores tend to be unstable or even the result of data errors. This leads to functional forms that level out at large or small Z-scores, implying some form of "S"-shape curve.

Two functional forms that satisfy these criteria are of particular interest. The first is the Step Function:

$$H(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & for \quad x < S^{-1}(p) \\ 1 & for \quad x \ge S^{-1}(p) \end{cases}$$
(25)

where S^{-1} is the inverse of the Cumulative Normal function:

$$S(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{x} N(y) \, dy = \frac{1}{2} \left[1 + \text{Erf}\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \right]$$
(26)

where Erf(x) is the error function and p is a number between zero and one. Figure 1 displays a plot of the Step Function where we have chosen p as 0.5.



Figure 1: The Step Function

We can interpret H(x) as simply the function that when applied as a tilt weights everything above the $100 * p^{th}$ percentile equally and everything below at zero. This corresponds to the classic construction methodology of forming a Characteristic Basket, consisting of a given proportion of the stock universe by factor value. Hence this classic factor portfolio construction technique can interpreted as a special case of a tilt.

The second function is the Cumulative Normal S(x) itself [32]. This is particularly apt since we have hitherto made the assumption that our underlying factor values are normally distributed. This has the additional advantages that it is symmetric and is the unique tilt function that is equivalent to a simple ranking in the case of normally distributed factors. Figure 2 shows a plot of the Cumulative Normal function.

Figure 2: The Cumulative Normal



It is clear that we can apply a given factor's tilt function repeatedly to an underlying set of weights. In particular we can set $F(x) = S(x)^n$ where *n* can be any real positive number. This gives rise to the notion of increasing (or decreasing) the strength for the tilt. We will refer to this as the "power" of the tilt. The "flattening out at extremes" now becomes an essential property of a tilt function since, were this not the case, stocks with large positive Z-scores would rapidly dominate the portfolio as *n* increases, potentially leading to concentration issues.

Note that it doesn't make sense to choose the step function H(x) for a given factor and then apply it repeatedly since it is clear that $H(x)^n = H(x)$. Instead the strength of tilt of the step function can be altered by varying value of the percentile parameter in (25). Higher percentile values for p will result in stronger factor tilts.

The remainder of this paper will be concerned with investigating the properties of these alternative tilt functions for use in constructing single and multi-factor portfolios. We will use the formulae discussed in the previous section to assess the exposure and diversification outcomes of these construction techniques.

5 Exposure and Concentration

In this section, we discuss important outcomes for factor portfolio construction: aggregate levels of factor exposure and the degree of diversification. We do this by looking at the exposure and diversification properties of portfolios constructed from one, two, three and then finally N factors.

We expect aggregate factor exposure and diversification to work in opposite directions. To see this, consider a portfolio consisting of a single stock that has the maximum target factor value. Now consider an equally weighted portfolio, consisting of all underlying stocks. The one-stock portfolio exhibits the highest level of exposure to the target characteristic, but zero diversification. Conversely, the all-stock portfolio displays no factor exposure in aggregate as the Z-scores have zero mean. However, the all-stock portfolio would have the highest level of diversification.

When considering multiple factor portfolios it seems clear that accommodating multiple factor exposures rather than just one must be at the expense of diversification. Further it would seem reasonable that factor correlation must play a role, particularly in the case of negative correlation. Strongly negatively correlated factors must, in some sense, be in danger of "cancelling one another out".

We shall see that these intuitions are true, but to varying degrees when we contrast the exposure and diversification properties of the composite portfolios formed from Characteristic Baskets with multiple tilted portfolios based on the Cumulative Normal.

5.1 One Factor Case

In this Subsection we calculate the exposure and concentration properties of single factor portfolios arising from a Characteristic Basket comprising of the top percentile of factor values and those for a tilt of power n using S(x). This latter portfolio we will refer to as the "Exponential-Tilt" portfolio.

First consider the Characteristic Basket portfolio. Substituting H(x) into (18) gives us the following expression for the concentration:

$$D[W^{T}[H(x)]] = \frac{1}{I[H(x)]} = \frac{1}{1-p}$$
(27)

This is precisely what one would expect, since we are restricting ourselves to factor values above the $100 * p^{th}$ percentile and equally weighting. For the exposure we get:

$$E_X[W^T[H(x)]] = \frac{e^{-\left[\operatorname{Erf}^{-1}(2p-1)\right]^2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}(1-p)}$$
(28)

Turning now to the Exponential-Tilt portfolio, note that from (18) we can write the single factor concentration as:

$$D[W^{T}[S(x)^{n}]] = \frac{I[S(x)^{2n}]}{I[S(x)^{n}]^{2}} = 1 + \frac{n^{2}}{(2n+1)}$$
(29)

where we have used the integral identity $I[S^n(x)] = 1/(n+1)$. For the exposure we get:

$$E_X[W^T[S^n(x)]] = \frac{I[S(x)^n * x]}{I[S(x)^n]} = (n+1) * I[S(x)^n * x]$$
(30)

where $I[S(x)^n * x]$ is easily obtained via numerical integration. For a "power-one" tilt (n = 1) we can evaluate this analytically yielding an exposure that is equal to $1/\sqrt{\pi} \approx 0.56$.

The two charts in Figure 3 illustrate the exposure and diversification trade-off: the greater the level of exposure, the less diversification there is. The left chart shows the exposure and Effective N of the Exponential-Tilt portfolio, resulting from varying the tilt power. As the tilt power increases the levels of exposure increase, whilst the Effective N decreases from 100% towards zero. The right chart shows the exposure and Effective N of a Characteristic Basket. Similarly, as we narrow our basket size the exposure increases and Effective N declines from 100% towards zero.



Figure 3: Exposure and Diversification of a Exponential-Tilt Portfolio (Left) and a Characteristic Basket (Right)

Given the trade-off between exposure and diversification for each of these constructions, an interesting and natural question is therefore: Which of the two methods delivers the highest degree of diversification for a given degree of exposure?

Figure 4 displays a plot of the Effective N verses exposure for each approach. For the Characteristic Basket we use the percentile (range 0 - 100%) to parameterize the Exposure/Effective N curve. For the Exponential-Tilt portfolio we use the tilt power (range 0 - 100) as a parameter.





Clearly for any given degree of factor exposure, the Exponential-Tilt portfolio (based on powers of S(x)) always yields a more diverse portfolio than the Characteristic Basket. Or, conversely, for any given level of diversification, the Exponential-Tilt results in greater levels of exposure to the factor of interest than the Characteristic Basket approach.

Specifically, selecting the top half of the stock universe by factor score and then equal weighting to achieve the maximum possible the diversification of 50% is not as efficient as tilting using S(x) raised to the power of 2.41, since this results in the same level of diversification but a 17% increase in factor exposure.

5.2 Two Factor Case

Extending the analysis to a two factor objective gives rise to our first multi-factor portfolio and allows us investigate the effect of factor correlation on our portfolio construction. We can repeat the above exercise comparing diversification and exposure profiles, but now allow for different degrees of correlation between factors. Note that in this multiple factor context, multiple tilting can be applied using either S(x) or H(x). The application of the latter will result in what is often described as the "intersection portfolio" [20] as it selects stocks that score above a threshold value for both factors.

In what follows we will refer to the portfolios arising from multiple tilts using various powers of S(x) as "Multiple Tilt" portfolios. We will refer to the portfolios arising from multiple application of H(x) with varying percentile levels as "Intersection" portfolios. Finally we will refer to composites of Characteristic Basket portfolios with varying percentile levels as "Composite Basket" portfolios.

We restrict our attention to the case where equal amounts of exposure for each of the two factors X and Y are required, that is for each weight function:

$$E_X[W] = E_Y[W] \tag{31}$$

In this situation, symmetry demands that the powers of both tilts are equal for the Multiple Tilt portfolio. For the Intersection portfolio and the Composite Basket, symmetry and simplicity imply that we should set each of the percentiles used, to the same level.

To get the expression for the exposure of the Multiple Tilt and Intersection portfolios we substitute (15) into (13) and simplify using (24). This gives:

$$E_{X}[W^{T}[F(x), F(y)]] = \frac{G[\rho, F(x) * x, F(y)]}{G[\rho, F(x), F(y)]}$$
(32)

Similarly inserting (15) into (14) and using (24) gives the concentration as:

$$D[W^{T}[F(x), F(y)]] = \frac{G[\rho, F(x)^{2}, F(y)^{2}]}{G[\rho, F(x), F(y)]^{2}}$$
(33)

where ρ is the correlation between factors. In these last two expressions we set $F(x) = S(x)^n$ for the Multiple Tilt and F(x) = H(x) for the Intersection portfolio.

For the Composite Basket we substitute (28) into (22) and set $\alpha_j = 1/2$ to get the following expression for the exposure:

$$E_X[W^C[H(x), H(y)]] = \frac{(1+\rho)}{2} * \frac{e^{-[\operatorname{Erf}^{-1}(2p-1)]^2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}(1-p)}$$
(34)

Substituting (27) into (23) gives the following expression for the concentration:

$$D[W^{C}[H(x), H(y)]] = \frac{1}{2(1-p)} + \frac{1}{(1-p)^{2}} * G[\rho, H(x), H(y)]$$
(35)

Equations (32) - (35) can be evaluated using numerical integration for the various G – integrals. Therefore for each of our portfolios we can obtain expressions for exposure and concentration, for any chosen degree of factor correlation, which are parameterized by either tilt power or percentile.

We can now show the Exposure verses Effective N profiles introduced in the single factor case for any degree of correlation. To demonstrate the relationship, it is sufficient to show profiles for cases of positive, zero and negative correlation. Figures 5, 6 and 7 show them for representative correlations of +0.5, 0.0 and -0.5.



Figure 5: Exposure vs Effective N for the Composite Basket, Intersection and Multiple Tilt: Correlation = + 0.5

Figure 6: Exposure vs Effective N for the Composite Basket, Intersection and Multiple Tilt: Correlation = 0.0



Figure 7: Exposure vs Effective N for the Composite Basket, Intersection and Multiple Tilt: Correlation = -0.5



Firstly, note that the Multiple Tilt portfolio always results in a higher Effective N for a given degree of exposure than either of the two alternatives at all levels of correlation. The Intersection portfolio is the worst behaving, always being the least diversified at any level of correlation. The superiority of the multiple tilt exposure/diversification profile becomes more significant as factor correlation is increasingly negative. In particular, at a correlation of -0.5 and targeting an Effective N of 50%, a Composite Basket

(with percentiles = 73%) displays exposure of 0.3 compared to a Multiple Tilt (with tilt power = 1.3) exposure of 0.4.

These considerations lead to the conclusion that multiple tilting is a superior method of constructing a two factor portfolio than a composite of single factor baskets but this conclusion is sensitive to the choice of tilt function employed. The step function is "too rigid" to use in a multi-tilt context, rapidly narrowing the selection universe and consequently diversification levels to achieve higher levels of exposure. The use of the cumulative normal can be viewed as a "smeared intersection" that avoids these concentration problems whilst providing increased levels of factor exposure.

5.3 Three Factor Case

It would appear that the dimensionality of the three factor case makes it difficult to repeat the analysis of the previous two sections. This is because we now have three correlations to consider, whereas consideration of only one correlation was required in the two factor case. Matters are further complicated in that three different exposures are under consideration that all depend on the correlations, tilt powers and the selection percentiles associated with any given factor.

However, most cases of interest are covered by considering the following correlation permutations (+0.3,+0.3,+0.3), (+0.3,+0.3,-0.3), (+0.3,-0.3,-0.3) and (-0.3,-0.3,-0.3). Here we have chosen the magnitude of "0.3" to correspond roughly to the levels of factor (anti-) correlation one typically finds empirically. To simplify further we examine the case when tilt powers/percentiles are chosen for a given set of correlations that equalize the exposures calculated for each factor, that is:

$$E_X[W] = E_Y[W] = E_Z[W]$$
(36)

for each of our weighting functions and factors X, Y and Z.

Figures 8, 9, 10 and 11 show the Exposure/Effective N profiles for each set of correlations.



Figure 8: Correlations +0.3, +0.3 and +0.3





Figure 10: Correlations +0.3, -0.3 and -0.3



Figure 11: Correlations -0.3, -0.3 and -0.3



Clearly for all the sample sets of correlations, the Multiple Tilt provides a higher degree of diversification for any given level of exposure than does the Composite Basket or the Intersection portfolio. The differences become increasingly marked as the number of negative correlations increases. For example let's suppose that we wish to target the same level of exposure that is found in the single factor powerone Exponential-Tilt portfolio introduced in Section 5.1 (i.e. $1/\sqrt{\pi}$). The resulting level of diversification for each correlation combination and construction technique is given in Table 1.

	Effective N		
Correlation Combination	Composite Basket	Intersection	Multiple Tilt
+0.3, +0.3, +0.3	54.05%	20.59%	59.21%
+0.3, +0.3, - 0.3	12.06%	8.70%	42.97%
+0.3, - 0.3, - 0.3	4.00%	3.36%	30.61%
- 0.3, - 0.3, - 0.3	0.01%	0.22%	10.31%

Table 1: Effective N for Equivalent Single Factor Power - One Exponential -Tilt Exposure

Only the Multiple Tilt shows good levels of diversification for each correlation combination. As a realworld example of the second correlation combination, consider the case of a multiple factor portfolio targeting quality, low volatility and value. Typically one finds that quality and value is the negatively correlated pair. Here the difference in diversification levels between the Multiple Tilt and the Composite Basket or Intersection portfolio is already quite dramatic. Indeed for the triple negative combination of correlations, levels of diversification are essentially zero for the Composite Basket and Intersection portfolio.

5.4 N-Factor Case

In the *N* factor case we have expressions for the exposure and concentration of the composite portfolio given by (22) and (23). Unfortunately we do not have similar simple expressions for the multiple tilt. Indeed since the number of correlations is equal to N(N-1)/2, the calculation of the various exposures for a multiple tilt becomes a complex process. To simplify matters let's assume that the *N* factors are uncorrelated. Also, as in the case of two and three factors, let's further simplify the problem by demanding that each factor has the same exposure and that this exposure arises from an identical tilt function, i.e. $F_i(x) = F(x)$.

In the case of a composite portfolio, setting $\rho_{ij} = 0$ for all $i \neq j$ and $\alpha_j = 1/N$ in (22) gives the following simple expression for the exposure:

$$E_{X_i}[W^C[F(x_1),..,F(x_N)]] = \frac{1}{N} E_X[W^T[F(x)]] = \frac{1}{N} \frac{I[F(x) * x]}{I[F(x)]}$$
(37)

In other words, the composite portfolio has an N^{th} of the exposure to factor X_i that it would have had in a single factor portfolio. This is the "averaging factor exposure" effect observed in composite portfolio construction approaches.

For the levels of concentration we obtain from (23):

$$D[W^{C}[F(x_{1}),..,F(x_{N})]] = \frac{1}{N}D[W^{T}[F(x)]] + \frac{(N-1)}{N} = \frac{1}{N}\frac{I[F^{2}(x)]}{I[F(x)]^{2}} + \frac{(N-1)}{N}$$
(38)

That is the concentration is an N^{th} of the single factor level of concentration plus (N-1)/N.

To get the exposure in the case of a multiple tilt we substitute (15) with tilt functions F(x) into (13). It relatively easy to show that:

$$E_{X_i}[W^T[F(x_1),..,F(x_N)]] = E_X[W^T[F(x)]] = \frac{I[F(x)*x]}{I[F(x)]}$$
(39)

In other words the level of exposure of each factor in a multifactor context is same as in the single factor case. It is similarly straight forward to show that the level of concentration is given by:

$$D[W^{T}[F(x_{1}),..,F(x_{N})]] = D[W^{T}[F(x)]]^{N} = \left\{\frac{I[F^{2}(x)]}{I[F(x)]^{2}}\right\}^{N}$$
(40)

...

That is the concentration is the product of the N single factor levels of concentration.

Using these formulae we are now in the position to compare the exposure and concentration outcomes of an N factor multiple tilt portfolio based on the cumulative normal (Multiple Tilt portfolio) verses N single factor baskets used to form a composite factor portfolio (Composite Basket portfolio). Similar results can be obtained for the Intersection portfolio, but they are significantly poorer than for the other two portfolios in terms of lower exposure and more concentrated outcomes.

First let's examine how the exposure of these multi-factor portfolios vary as a function of the number of factors when we fix the Effective N equal to N_{eff} .

For the Multiple Tilt portfolio we set (40) equal to $1/N_{eff}$ to get:

$$D[W^{T}[S(x_{1})^{n},...,S(x_{N})^{n}]] = \left\{\frac{I[S(x)^{2n}]}{I[S(x)^{n}]^{2}}\right\}^{N} = 1/N_{eff}$$
(41)

Using the integral identity $I[S(x)^n] = 1/(n+1)$ and solving the resulting equation for the tilt power *n*, gives:

$$n = \left(\frac{1}{N_{eff}}\right)^{1/N} - 1 + \sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{N_{eff}}\right)^{1/N} \left[\left(\frac{1}{N_{eff}}\right)^{1/N} - 1\right]}$$
(42)

We can now substitute this tilt power into our expression (39) for exposure:

$$E_{X_i}[W^T[S(x_1)^n, \dots, S(x_N)^n]] = (n+1) * I[S(x)^n * x]$$
(43)

Similarly for the Composite Basket portfolio we solve:

$$D[W^{C}[H(x_{1}),..,H(x_{N})]] = \frac{1}{N*(1-p)} + \frac{(N-1)}{N} = 1/N_{eff}$$
(44)

for the percentile p, which gives:

$$p = \frac{1 - N_{eff}}{1 + N_{eff}(1/N - 1)}$$
(45)

We can then substitute this into the expression (37) for the exposure:

$$E_{X_i}[W^C[H(x_1),\dots,H(x_N)]] = \frac{e^{-[\mathrm{Erf}^{-1}(2p-1)]^2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}(1-p)N}$$
(46)

It is now possible to examine the cases where the requirement is that our N - factor portfolios have an Effective N of 10%, 25% and 50%. Figure 12 shows a plot of the ratio of the exposure of the Multiple Tilt to that of the Composite Basket verses number of factors.



Figure 12: Exposure Ratio of Multiple Tilt to Composite Basket verses Number of Factors

Clearly, for each level of diversification, the exposure for the Multiple Tilt portfolio is always greater than that of the Composite Basket since the ratio is always greater than one. Note also that, with the exception of 50% Effective N moving from one to two factors, as the number of factors increases the ratio of the exposures increases.

Alternatively, we can examine how diversification varies with the number of factors whilst fixing exposure at the same level as is found in a single factor power-one Exponential-Tilt $(1/\sqrt{\pi})$.

We already know from (39) that the Multiple Tilt portfolio's exposure is the same as the single factor exposure and that from (29) and (40), the concentration is:

$$D[W^{T}[S(x_{1}),..,S(x_{N})]] = \left\{\frac{I[S^{2}(x)]}{I[S(x)]^{2}}\right\}^{N} = \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{N}$$
(47)

Matters are more complicated for the Composite Basket portfolio, as we must solve:

$$E_{X_i}[W^C[H(x_1),\dots,H(x_N)]] = \frac{e^{-[\operatorname{Erf}^{-1}(2p-1)]^2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}(1-p)N} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}}$$
(48)

for our percentile level p. This is relatively easy to do numerically. Given a solution we can then substitute it into (38) to obtain the level of concentration. The results are shown in Figure 13.



Figure 13: Effective N verses Number of Factors for the Composite Basket and the Multiple Tilt

Clearly, for the same degree of exposure as in a single factor tilt portfolio for each of our *N* factors, the Multiple Tilt approach always results in a greater Effective N than the Composite Basket technique. Further, as the number of factors increases the percentage difference in the diversification becomes greater. For one factor it is about 15% but for five it is 679%. Indeed the Effective N of the Composite Basket tends to zero rapidly when the number of factors is greater than five. Recall that the diversification of Multiple tilt portfolio declines more gently as $(3/4)^N$.

6 Conclusion

We have shown how the concept of tilting towards or away from a factor encapsulates a number of portfolio construction techniques. In particular we have shown that the choice of the step function as the tilt function yields a Characteristic Basket, consisting of a given proportion of the universe by factor value. This is a commonly employed method of creating a single factor portfolio.

We have also shown that using the Cumulative Normal as the tilt function has several advantages over the step function. First in the single factor context the Cumulative Normal gives rise to factor portfolios that always have a greater degree of diversification for a given degree of exposure than those based on a Characteristic Basket.

In the case of multiple factors, factor correlation becomes important. We have shown that in the case of two and three factors, that multiple tilting using the Cumulative Normal again results in more diversified outcomes for a given degree of exposure than a composite of single factor Characteristic Baskets. Further we have shown that multiple tilting using the step function yields the Intersection portfolio which results in even greater levels of concentration. This superiority of employing a combination of the Cumulative Normal and multiple tilting becomes more pronounced as factor correlations become increasingly negative.

In the case of N factors, we have shown that, when the factors are more or less independent (zero correlation), for a target diversification corresponding to 10%, 25% and 50% (or indeed any other percentage) of the underlying equally weighted universe, multiple tilting using the Cumulative Normal again results in greater factor exposure than a composite of single factor Characteristic Baskets.

Finally we have shown that, if we have a certain amount of target exposure in mind for each of our N factors, say the amount that would result from a single factor portfolio tilt, the degree of diversification is always higher for the multiple tilt employing the Cumulative Normal than for a composite of Characteristic Baskets. The percentage difference in diversification becomes greater as the number of factors increases. Indeed beyond five factors the composite Characteristic Basket yields an Effective N that rapidly tends to zero.

7 References

[1] Banz, R. W. "The Relationship Between Return and Market Value of Common Stocks", *Journal of Financial Economics*, 1981.

[2] Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. "The Cross-Section of Expected Stock Returns", *Journal of Finance*, 47 p427-p465, 1992.

[3] Jegadeesh, N. and Titman, S. "Profitability of Momentum Strategies: An Evaluation of Alternative Explanations", *The Journal of Finance*, April 2001.

[4] Haugen, Robert A. and Nardin L. Baker (1996), "Commonality in the Determinants of Expected Stock Returns," Journal of Financial Economics, 401–439.

[5] Baker, M., Bradley, B. and Wurgler, J. "Benchmarks as Limits to Arbitrage: Understanding the Low Volatility Anomaly", 2011.

[6] Graham, B. and Dodd, D. "Security Analysis", 1934.

[7] Asness, C., Frazzini, A. and Pedersen, L. "Quality Minus Junk", 2014.

[8] Asness, C. "The Value of Fundamental Indexing", Institutional Investor, 94-99, October 2006.

[9] Asness, C. "My Factor Philippic", SSRN Document, June 22, 2016.

[10] Sharpe, W. "A Simplified Model for Portfolio Analysis", *Management Science,* Vol. 9, p277- p293, 1963.

[11] Black, F. and Litterman, R. "Global Portfolio Optimization", *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 48, No. 5, p28-p43, September/October 1992.

[12] Doole, S., Chia, C., Kulkarni, P. and Melas, D. "The MSCI Diversified Multi-Factor Indexes", *MSCI White Paper*, May 2015.

[13] Bender, J., Briand, R., Melas, D., Subrahamian, R. A. and Subrahamian, M. "Deploying Multi-factor Index Allocations in Institutional Portfolios", *MSCI White Paper*, December 2013.

[14] Bender, J., and T. Wang. "Tilted and Anti-Tilted Portfolios: A Coherent Framework for Advanced Beta Portfolio Construction", The Journal of Index Investing, 1, p56-p64, Summer 2015.

[15] Bender, J., and Wang, T. "Can the Whole Be More than the Sum of the Parts? Bottom-up versus Top-Down Multifactor Portfolio Construction", *The Journal of Portfolio Management*, Vol. 42, p39- p50, 2016.

[16] Amenc, N. and Goltz, F. "Smart Beta 2.0", Journal of Index investing, 2013.

[17] Amenc, N., Goltz, F., Lodh, A. and L. Martellini, L. "Towards Smart Equity Factor Indices: Harvesting Risk Premia without Taking Unrewarded Risks", *Journal of Portfolio Management*, Vol. 40, No. 4, p106–p122, 2014.

[18] Goltz, F. and Sivasubramanian, S. "Scientific Beta Maximum Decorrelation Indices", *ERI Scientific Beta*, Nov. 2015.

[19] "Goldman Sachs ActiveBeta® Equity Indexes Methodology", *Goldman Sachs Asset Management*, November 2016.

[20] "Combining Risk Factors for Superior Returns", Northern Trust, October 2014.

[21] Basu, S. "Investment Performance of Common Stocks in Relation to their Price Earnings Ratios: A Test of the Efficient Market Hypothesis", *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 32, p663-p682, 1977.

[22] Blitz, D., Huij, J., Lansdorp, S. and van Vliet, P. "Efficient Factor Investing Strategies", *Robecco White Paper*, May 2016.

[23] Woerheide, W. and Persson, D. "An Index of Portfolio Diversification", *Financial Services Review*, Vol. 2, p73-p85, 1993.

[24] Choueifaty, Y. and Coignard, Y. "Toward Maximum Diversification", *The Journal of Portfolio Management*, Vol. 35, 40-51, 2008.

[25] Fitzgibbons, S., Friedman, J., Pomorski, L. and Serban, L. "Long-Only style Investing: Don't Just Mix, Integrate", AQR White Paper, June 2016.

[26] Ghayur, K., Heaney, R. and Platt, S. "Constructing Long-Only Multi-Factor Strategies: Portfolio Blending verses signal Blending", *SSRN Document*, December 2016.

[27] Fraser-Jenkins, I., Guerrini, A., Harmsworth, A., Diver, M., McCarthy, S., Stancikas, R., Hughes, M. and Bernstein, A. "How to combine factors? It depends why you are doing it", New York, NY, 2016.

[28] Clarke, R., de Silva, H. and Thorley, S. "Fundamentals of Efficient Factor Investing", *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 72, No. 6, 2016.

[29] Markowitz, H. "Portfolio Selection", Journal of Finance, Vol. 7, No. 1, March 1952.

[30] Melas, D., Suryanarayanan, R. and Cavaglia, S. "Efficient Replication of Factor Returns: Theory and Applications", *Journal of Portfolio Management*, Vol. 36, p39-p51, 2010.

[31] Arnott, R., Beck, N., Kalesnik, V., and West, J. "How Can "Smart Beta" Go Horribly Wrong?", Fundamentals, Research Affiliates, 2016.

[32] "Factor Exposure Indices", *FTSE Russell Research*, August 2014. http://www.ftse.com/products/downloads/factor-index-construction-methodology-paper.pdf

[33] Duchin, R. and Moshe, L. "Portfolio Optimization and the Distribution of Firm Size", *SSRN Document*, June 2008.

[34] Grinold, R. and Kahn, R. "Active Portfolio Management", Chicago and Cambridge, Probus Publishing, 1995.

[35] Hoffstein, C. and Sibears, J. "Capital Efficiency in Multi-factor Portfolios", *Newfound Research*, October 2016

For more information about our indexes, please visit ftserussell.com.

© 2017 London Stock Exchange Group plc and its applicable group undertakings (the "LSE Group"). The LSE Group includes (1) FTSE International Limited ("FTSE"), (2) Frank Russell Company ("Russell"), (3) FTSE TMX Global Debt Capital Markets Inc. and FTSE TMX Global Debt Capital Markets Limited (together, "FTSE TMX") and (4) MTSNext Limited ("MTSNext"). All rights reserved.

FTSE Russell[®] is a trading name of FTSE, Russell, FTSE TMX and MTS Next Limited. "FTSE[®]", "Russell[®]", "FTSE Russell[®]", "MTS[®]", "FTSE TMX[®]", "FTSE 4Good[®]" and "ICB[®]" and all other trademarks and service marks used herein (whether registered or unregistered) are trademarks and/or service marks owned or licensed by the applicable member of the LSE Group or their respective licensors and are owned, or used under licence, by FTSE, Russell, MTSNext, or FTSE TMX.

All information is provided for information purposes only. Every effort is made to ensure that all information given in this publication is accurate, but no responsibility or liability can be accepted by any member of the LSE Group nor their respective directors, officers, employees, partners or licensors for any errors or for any loss from use of this publication or any of the information or data contained herein.

No member of the LSE Group nor their respective directors, officers, employees, partners or licensors make any claim, prediction, warranty or representation whatsoever, expressly or impliedly, either as to the results to be obtained from the use of the FTSE Russell Indexes or the fitness or suitability of the Indexes for any particular purpose to which they might be put.

No member of the LSE Group nor their respective directors, officers, employees, partners or licensors provide investment advice and nothing in this document should be taken as constituting financial or investment advice. No member of the LSE Group nor their respective directors, officers, employees, partners or licensors make any representation regarding the advisability of investing in any asset. A decision to invest in any such asset should not be made in reliance on any information herein. Indexes cannot be invested in directly. Inclusion of an asset in an index is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold that asset. The general information contained in this publication should not be acted upon without obtaining specific legal, tax, and investment advice from a licensed professional.

No part of this information may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior written permission of the applicable member of the LSE Group. Use and distribution of the LSE Group index data and the use of their data to create financial products require a licence from FTSE, Russell, FTSE TMX, MTSNext and/or their respective licensors.

Past performance is no guarantee of future results. Charts and graphs are provided for illustrative purposes only. Index returns shown may not represent the results of the actual trading of investable assets. Certain returns shown may reflect back-tested performance. All performance presented prior to the index inception date is back-tested performance. Back-tested performance, but is hypothetical. The back-test calculations are based on the same methodology that was in effect when the index was officially launched. However, back- tested data may reflect the application of the index methodology with the benefit of hindsight, and the historic calculations of an index may change from month to month based on revisions to the underlying economic data used in the calculation of the index.

This publication may contain forward-looking statements. These are based upon a number of assumptions concerning future conditions that ultimately may prove to be inaccurate. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and may be affected by various factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made and no member of the LSE Group nor their licensors assume any duty to and do not undertake to update forward-looking statements.

About FTSE Russell

FTSE Russell is a leading global index provider creating and managing a wide range of indexes, data and analytic solutions to meet client needs across asset classes, style and strategies. Covering 98% of the investable market, FTSE Russell indexes offer a true picture of global markets, combined with the specialist knowledge gained from developing local benchmarks around the world.

FTSE Russell index expertise and products are used extensively by institutional and retail investors globally. More than \$10 trillion is currently benchmarked to FTSE Russell indexes. For over 30 years, leading asset owners, asset managers, ETF providers and investment banks have chosen FTSE Russell indexes to benchmark their investment performance and create investment funds, ETFs, structured products and index-based derivatives. FTSE Russell indexes also provide clients with tools for asset allocation, investment strategy analysis and risk management.

A core set of universal principles guides FTSE Russell index design and management: a transparent rules-based methodology is informed by independent committees of leading market participants. FTSE Russell is focused on index innovation and customer partnership applying the highest industry standards and embracing the IOSCO Principles. FTSE Russell is wholly owned by London Stock Exchange Group.

For more information, visit <u>ftserussell.com</u>.

To learn more, visit <u>ftserussell.com</u>; email <u>info@ftserussell.com</u>; or call your regional Client Service Team office:

EMEA

+44 (0) 20 7866 1810

North America +1 877 503 6437 Asia-Pacific Hong Kong +852 2164 3333 Tokyo +81 3 3581 2764 Sydney +61 (0) 2 8823 3521